1997

Juliette Turley v. Robert Walters Turley : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(i) (1996). The final judgment was entered December 4, 1996. (R. 190-83.¹) Mr. Turley filed his notice of appeal 30 days later, on January 3, 1997. (R. 194-93.) The notice of appeal was filed within 30 days of the entry of judgment and was therefore timely. Utah R. App. P. 4(a).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Where a divorce decree acknowledges the possibility that an obligor may lose his job but orders child support and alimony based on the current employment and provides that the child support and alimony will continue at those levels only so long as the obligor's income does not change, does the actual occurrence of the

¹ The documents in the trial court file are assembled in reverse chronological order. As a result, the pagination on each document is in reverse numerical order.

job loss constitute a change of circumstance justifying modification of the child support and alimony?

2. Where a divorce decree provides that "in the event the defendant's income does not terminate, the amounts paid for child support shall continue . . . , does the support obligation terminate when the income terminates?

Although an appellate court typically "reviews a trial court's modification determination for an abuse of discretion," Hill v. Hill, 841 P.2d 722, 724 (Utah Ct. App. 1992), the trial court's determination in this case involves solely an interpretation of the wording of the decree of divorce. The trial court treated the issue as having been presented by a motion for summary judgment. (R. 158.) The only issues presented involve the interpretation of the decree. "Since appellate courts are in as good a position as trial courts to interpret court rulings . . . , [this court] should review the trial court's interpretation of its order for correctness." Stevensen v. Goodson, 924 P.2d 339, 346 (Utah 1996).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Appellant is not aware of any constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations whose interpretation is determinative of the appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature Of The Case. This is an appeal from a final order dismissing appellant's petition for modification of a divorce decree.

B. Course Of Proceedings And Disposition Below. The parties were divorced by a decree entered February 9, 1996. (R. 95-88.) On May 30, 1996, Mr. Turley filed his Verified Petition to Amend Decree of Divorce. (R. 122-119.) A trial on the petition was held October 10, 1996. (R. 159-58.) At the conclusion of trial, however, the parties stipulated that there was only one factual issue (a \$1,400.00 payment which is not at issue on this appeal), and agreed that Mrs. Turley's trial memorandum could be treated as a memorandum supporting summary judgment. (R. 158.) Mr. Turley responded to the "memorandum for summary judgment" (R. 168-64), and Mrs. Turley replied. (R. 173-69.)

The trial court entered its Memorandum Decision on November 15, 1996, finding the issues in favor of Mrs. Turley. (R. 182-77.) On December 4, 1996, the court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order granting Mrs. Turley's motion for summary judgment and dismissing Mr. Turley's petition for modification. (R. 190-83.)

C. Statement of Facts. On September 28, 1994, after 27 years of marriage, Mrs. Turley filed a complaint seeking a divorce from Mr. Turley. (R. 7-1.) At that time, Mr. Turley was employed

as President and CEO of Intermountain Farmers Association, but that position was terminated effective August 1, 1995. (R. 65.) Pursuant to his employment agreement with IFA, Mr. Turley's full income of \$123,198.00 per year continued through May 31, 1996, and IFA and Mr. Turley had tentatively contemplated ongoing compensation of one-fourth of that amount for four years. (Id.)

The divorce case was set for trial December 14, 1995, but the parties reached a stipulation which was approved by the court. (R. 85.) The formal documents implementing the stipulation and granting the decree of divorce were entered February 9, 1996. (R. 95-88, 103-96.)

Paragraph 7 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered in connection with the divorce acknowledged that Mr. Turley's income would terminate:

The defendant has represented to the Court that his income with Intermountain Farmers will terminate on May 31, 1996, at which time he will no longer receive income from Intermountain Farmers; however, it is reasonable that in the event the defendant's income does not terminate, the amounts paid for child support and alimony shall continue as set forth above. In the event the defendant's income, which has historically been \$181,000.00 per year, should be that amount, and whether he is employed with Intermountain Farmers Association or any other company, or has income in said amount, then alimony paid by the defendant to the plaintiff shall increase in the amount that child support decreases when the minor children reach their majority, but only so long as the defendant's income is based upon historical earnings of \$181,000.00 per year.

(R. 101.)

The Decree of Divorce similarly noted the anticipated termination of Mr. Turley's income. Paragraph 3 of the decree ordered Mr. Turley to pay \$1,300.00 per month as support for the two minor children. Paragraph 4 ordered Mr. Turley to pay \$1,500.00 per month as alimony. (R. 94.) Paragraph 7 of the decree made those payments conditional on Mr. Turley's continued employment:

The defendant's income from Intermountain Farmers will terminate on May 31, 1996, at which time he will no longer receive income from Intermountain Farmers; however, in the event the defendant's income does not terminate, the amounts paid for child support shall continue as set forth above. With respect to alimony, alimony shall increase in the amount that child support decreases when the minor children reach their majority, only so long as the defendant's income is based upon historical earnings of \$181,000.00 per year.

(R. 93.)

The \$9,583.00 per month Mr. Turley was receiving from IFA did terminate effective May 31, 1996. (R. 124.) Mr. Turley attempted to find other work, but at the time he filed his petition to modify, he was only earning approximately \$1,000.00 per month. (Id.) The trial court denied his requested modification, and Mr. Turley thereafter perfected this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The parties' divorce decree noted that Mr. Turley's income would terminate only a few months after entry of the decree. Rather than attempting to predict the future, the divorce decree

made an award of alimony and child support based on Mr. Turley's then current income and provided that the alimony and child support would continue at those levels until the income terminated. Implied in the decree was the expectation that a modification would need to occur when Mr. Turley's post-IFA income became known.

The trial court dismissed Mr. Turley's petition for modification based on the rule that a decree may be modified only upon proof of a substantial change in circumstances not contemplated at the time of the decree. Although Mr. Turley's loss of income was known at the time of the decree, the decree did not contemplate or account for the actual level of the reduced income. The decree must be read to give effect to all of its terms. Those terms include provisions that the alimony and child support will continue only so long as Mr. Turley's income continued at the IFA levels. The only internally consistent interpretation of the divorce decree is that the divorce decree anticipated the need for a future hearing after Mr. Turley's income became known.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

MR. TURLEY'S INABILITY TO EARN HIS PRIOR LEVEL OF INCOME WAS NOT A CIRCUMSTANCE CONTEMPLATED BY THE DECREE OF DIVORCE.

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(3) (1995) vests a divorce court with "continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the support and maintenance of the parties, the custody of the

children and their support . . . as is reasonable and necessary." A prerequisite to invoking the divorce court's continuing jurisdiction is proof of "a substantial change of circumstances subsequent to the decree, that was not originally contemplated within the decree itself." Woodward v. Woodward, 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985). The trial court employed this principle to hold that because Mr. Turley's potential loss of income was known and in fact stated in the decree of divorce, Mr. Turley must continue to pay \$2,800.00 in child support and alimony as though he were earning over \$9,000.00 per month, although his current income is around \$1,000.00 per month. This is obviously not fair nor was it contemplated by the parties or the court at the time of the divorce decree.

The understanding of the parties and the divorce court is best represented in paragraph 7 of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which states:

The defendant has represented to the Court that his income with Intermountain Farmers will terminate on May 31, 1996, at which time he will no longer receive income from Intermountain Farmers; however, it is reasonable that in the event the defendant's income does not terminate, the amounts paid for child support and alimony shall continue as set forth above. In the event the defendant's income, which has historically been \$181,000.00 per year, should be that amount, and whether he is employed with Intermountain Farmers Association or any other company, or has income in said amount, then alimony paid by the defendant to the plaintiff shall increase in the amount that child support decreases when the minor children reach their majority, but only so long as the defendant's

income is based upon historical earnings of
\$181,000.00 per year.

(R. 101.)

In other words, the divorce court noted the probable future loss of income, but declined to forecast the future and explicitly decided only what support would be based on present income. This approach is consistent with Utah law. In MacLean v. MacLean, 523 P.2d 862 (Utah 1974), the trial court anticipated that the wife would gain employment and that her need for alimony would be reduced. The trial court attempted to anticipate the probable employment by reducing alimony 5% each year. The Utah Supreme Court rejected such an attempt to divine the future and counseled: "We deem it best that the changes in alimony either downward or upward should be left to future determinations by the court under its continuing jurisdiction." 523 P.2d at 863.

The divorce court in the instant matter did just what the MacLean court advised. The court set alimony and child support based on the only facts which were known, which was the income at the time of the decree. The court also specifically stated that these amounts would continue only so long as the income continued.

The decisions relied upon by the trial court and Mrs. Turley below do not support the dismissal of Mr. Turley's petition to modify. In Durfee v. Durfee, 796 P.2d 713 (Utah Ct. App. 1990), the trial court found that the husband's income had increased by \$16,000.00 over the ten years following the divorce. The husband characterized the increase as modest and argued that such an

increase would have been clearly "contemplated" by the parties at the time of the decree. The Court of Appeals rejected that argument and stated:

The fact that the parties may have anticipated an increase of income in their own minds or in their discussions does not mean that the decree itself contemplates the change. In order for a material change in circumstances to be contemplated in a divorce decree, there must be evidence, preferably in the form of a provision within the decree itself, that the trial court anticipated the specific change.

796 P.2d at 716. The Durfee court illustrated this quotation by citation to Dana v. Dana, 789 P.2d 726 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). In that case, the trial court anticipated that the wife, who earned \$3,000.00 the year prior to the divorce, would soon earn approximately \$10,000.00 to \$12,000.00 per year in gross income. Four years after the divorce, the wife actually was earning \$17,000.00 per year in gross income. The Court of Appeals held that because part of this increase was contemplated at the time of the divorce, the actual increased income was only \$5,000.00 to \$7,000.00 for purposes of determining whether a substantial change in circumstances had occurred. 789 P.2d at 729.

These cases actually support Mr. Turley's position. The rule established by these cases is that where a trial court makes a support order *which is intended to account for* anticipated future changes, the actual occurrence of those anticipated changes will not constitute a "substantial change of circumstances." The decree

in the instant case did not "contemplate" the loss by making a support order which would account for the future income loss.

Moore v. Moore, 872 P.2d 1054 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), also fails to support the position of Mrs. Turley in the trial court below. The court held in that case that the initial support amounts were set based on an expectation that the wife would soon be employed as a school teacher. The court accordingly held that the wife's actually obtaining that employment was not a substantial change in circumstances.²

The decree in the instant case expressly acknowledges that Mr. Turley's income from his then current employer would end, but the parties did not know nor did the divorce court forecast what his income would be thereafter. The divorce decree does not, therefore, *contemplate* or account for the future income. To the contrary, the decree expressly contemplates income at the level of the decree. Mr. Turley does not now earn that level of income, and the trial court's order dismissing his petition to modify the decree must be reversed.

² Part of the rationale of Moore squarely conflicts with the holding in Durfee. The Moore court based its holding on evidence that "[a]t the time the decree was entered, the parties had discussed Mrs. Moore's plan to recertify as a school teacher or to obtain a Master's degree in sociology." 872 P.2d at 1055 (underlining added). In Durfee, the court disapproved relying on the parties' discussions. The Durfee court stated: "The fact that the parties may have anticipated an increase of income in their own minds or in their discussions does not mean that the decree itself contemplates the change." 796 P.2d at 716.

POINT II

THE DIVORCE DECREE AND SUPPORTING FINDINGS PROVIDE THAT SUPPORT WAS TO CONTINUE ONLY AS LONG AS MR. TURLEY WAS EARNING \$181,000 PER YEAR.

The issue in the instant case is not whether the change in circumstances was contemplated. The parties and court clearly knew at the time of the divorce decree that Mr. Turley's income would terminate only a few months after the decree. The parties did not know what his income would then be. Rather, the issue in this case is whether the initial divorce decree provided that Mr. Turley's \$2,800.00-per-month support obligation would continue even after his income stopped. The interpretation of the decree is a question of law and is reviewed by this Court for correctness. Stevensen v. Goodson, 924 P.2d 339, 346 (Utah 1996). The same rules of construction apply as for any written instrument. Bettinger v. Bettinger, 793 P.2d 389, 391 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). The decree must be interpreted in a way to give effect to each of its provisions. W. & G. Co. v. Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City, 802 P.2d 755, 769 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). To the extent that the language in the decree is ambiguous or confusing, "the entire record may be resorted to for the purpose of construing the judgment." Bettinger, supra, (quoting Park City, Utah Corp. v. Ensign Co., 586 P.2d 446, 450 (Utah 1978)).

Application of these rules supports only one conclusion: The divorce decree provided that its support provisions would continue only so long as Mr. Turley was still earning \$181,000.00 per year.

Paragraph 7 of the decree provides that the child support shall continue "in the event the defendant's income does not terminate." The corollary of the statement is that the child support will not continue if defendant's income terminated. While not as clear as for child support, the same paragraph also indicates that ongoing alimony is contingent upon defendant's income remaining at \$181,000.00 per year.