1997

Juliette Turley v. Robert W. Turley : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Where a Divorce Decree takes into consideration the likelihood that an obligor (Mr. Turley) has lost his job, and may experience a reduction in income, yet still orders child support and alimony based on the current (and historical) employment, does the inclusion of this information as consideration by the Court, preclude the post-decree loss of employment or reduction in income contemplated, from constituting the required change of circumstances, and from supporting review or justifying modification of the child support and alimony?

2. Pendant to the main issue: Whether the occurrence of the loss of job, while arguably sufficient to allow review of support, actually constitutes sufficient change of circumstances to modify the award set in contemplation of the event.

NOTE: In consideration of these issues, the standards of review by this Court should be:

a. This Court will not review issues that are raised for the first time on appeal. State in re Schreuder, 649 P. 2d 19, 22 (Utah 1982).

b. This Court will presume the correctness of the trial court's decision absent "manifest injustice or inequity that indicates a clear abuse of . . . discretion." Hansen v. Hansen, 736 P.2d at 1056, 1055 (Utah App. 1987) (citing Turner v. Turner, 649 P.2d 6, 8 (Utah 1982)); see also Whitehead v. Whitehead, No. 910205-CA, slip op. at 3 (Utah App. Aug. 7, 1992).

c. This Court gives great deference to the factual findings of the Trial Court, and will not supplement it's own judgment for that of the trial judge, as the trier of fact. The Appellant's argument that a lesser standard applies, is undercut by the continued reference to the Findings of Fact made by the Trial Court.

d. Due to the equitable nature of child support proceedings, this Court accords substantial deference to the trial court's findings and gives the trial court considerable latitude in fashioning child support orders. Woodward v. Woodward, 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985); Hill v. Hill, 841 P.2d 722, 724 (Utah App. 1992). Absent an abuse of discretion, the Appeals Court "will not disturb the trial court's actions." Hill, 841 P.2d at 724.

e. Traditionally, this Court accords the trial court considerable discretion to the lower court and thus, the lower court's "actions are entitled to a presumption of validity." Allred v. Allred, 797 P.2d 1108, 1111 (Utah App. 1990)(quoting Hansen v. Hansen, 736 P.2d 1055, 1056 (Utah App. 1987)). In addition, the lower court's determination "will not be upset on appeal unless the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary or [this court] determine[s] that the court has abused its discretion." Durfee v. Durfee, 796 P.2d 713, 717 (Utah App. 1990)(quoting Ostler v. Ostler, 789 P.2d 713, 715 (Utah App. 1990)).

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

Appellee is not aware of any constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations whose interpretation is determinative of the appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case. This is an appeal from a final Order dismissing Mr. Turley's Petition for Modification of the child support and spousal support provisions of a Divorce Decree.

B. Course Of Proceedings And Disposition Below. The parties were divorced by a Decree entered February 9, 1996. (R. 95-88.) On May 30, 1996, Mr. Robert Turley filed his Verified Petition to Amend Decree of Divorce. (R. 122-119.) Both parties and the Trial Court agreed to treat Mrs. Turley's trial memorandum as a Motion and Memorandum for Summary Judgment. (R. 158.) Mr. Turley responded to the Motion and Memorandum for Summary Judgment (R. 168-64.), and Mrs. Turley subsequently filed a Reply Memorandum. (R. 173-69.)

The trial court considered the Motion and entered its Memorandum Decision on November 15, 1996, finding the issues in favor of the Appellee, Mrs. Turley. (R. 182-77.) On December 4, 1996, the court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order granting Mrs. Turley's Motion for Summary Judgment. Mr. Turley's Petition was dismissed with prejudice. (R. 190-183.)

C. Statement of Facts.

1. The Plaintiff and Defendant were divorced on February

9, 1996.

2. The divorce was granted pursuant to stipulation.

3. Paragraph 4 of the Divorce Decree sets out that the Defendant is to pay the Plaintiff alimony in the sum of \$1,500.00 per month for the Plaintiff's/ Juliette Turley's support and maintenance. The sum is to be paid in semi-monthly installments of \$750.00 each to be paid on the 5th and 20th of each month.

4. Paragraph 3 of the Divorce Decree sets out that the Defendant/ Robert Turley is to pay the Plaintiff child support in the sum of \$1,300.00 per month, for support and maintenance of the two minor children. Child support was set to continue until the minor children reach the age of 18 years or graduate from high school with their normal matriculated class, whichever occurs last.

5. Paragraph 7 of the Divorce Decree states:

The defendant's income from Intermountain Farmers will terminate on May 31, 1996, at which time he will no longer receive income from Intermountain Farmers; however, in the event the defendant's income does not terminate, the amounts paid for child support shall continue as set forth above. With respect to alimony, alimony shall increase in the amount that child support decreases when the minor children reach their majority, only so long as the defendant's income is based upon historical earnings of \$181,000.00 per year.

6. The Defendant/ Robert Turley filed a Petition to Modify the amount of alimony, based upon the occurrence of his anticipated change in employment/income.

7. Mr. Turley's Petition was dismissed, on a Motion for Summary Judgment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

FIRST. The parties were aware of and did contemplate the fact that Mr. Turley had lost his job with Intermountain Farmers. Paragraph 7 of the Divorce Decree specifically addresses this fact.

SECOND. The use of the language "based upon historical earnings" is broader than merely stating a specific income from a specific employment or source. The plain use of the language, when interpreted in light of the applicable support statutes, is to include the event where Mr. Turley might actually terminate his employment, or realize a substantial reduction in income, but provides that his historical ability to earn will continue as the basis for his support obligations.

THIRD. Not only did the parties contemplate the discontinuation or reduction of Mr. Turley's income from his then-present employment, testimony at trial supported that fact and also informed the Court that Mr. Turley's job had actually been terminated months prior to the parties' divorce: at the time of the Decree of Divorce, Mr. Turley had already been unemployed for months. The fact of the loss of the Intermountain Farmer's income, was more than contemplated, it was known, at the time of the stipulated resolution. Therefore, the recognition of the event contemplated and known, does not constitute a "change of circumstance" for purposes of modification or review.

FOURTH. It was the Defendant's counsel who drafted the

Decree of Divorce. In the event the Court finds there to be some ambiguity, it is black letter law that any ambiguities should be construed against the drafter, Mr. Turley.

FIFTH. Based upon these arguments, the Appeal should be dismissed, and the Trial Court's Dismissal upheld.

ARGUMENT

Point I

WHETHER A CONTEMPLATED OR ANTICIPATED EVENT USED AS THE BASIS FOR AN AGREEMENT AND DECREE, COULD LATER BE CONSIDERED A SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES FOR MODIFICATION OF THE DECREE?

The event of Mr. Turley's change in income/employment, was a circumstance which had occurred and was contemplated and written into the Decree of Divorce.

While a divorce court is vested with the power to make subsequent changes to the Decree of Divorce Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(3)(1995), the vital prerequisite to permitting the divorce court to make changes is proof of "a substantial change of circumstances subsequent to the decree, that was not originally contemplated within the decree itself," Woodward v. Woodward, 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985). The Trial Court correctly employed this threshold test to hold that Mr. Turley's potential loss of income was known and contemplated by the parties and court when the support amounts were established under the Decree of Divorce.

The plain language of paragraph 5 (quoting paragraph 7 of

the Divorce Decree) of the Findings of Facts and mirrored in the Decree, reflects the parties' and court's knowledge and contemplation of a change in Mr. Turley's income. Paragraph 7 of the Decree of Divorce states:

The defendant's income from Intermountain Farmers will terminate on May 31, 1996, at which time he will no longer receive income from Intermountain Farmers; however, in the event the defendant's income does not terminate, the amounts paid for child support shall continue as set forth above. With respect to alimony, alimony shall increase in the amount that child support decreases when the minor children reach their majority, only so long as the defendant's income is based upon historical earnings of \$181,000.00 per year.

The language of the Divorce Decree is plain on it's face. The parties did contemplate the fact that the Defendant could lose his income from Intermountain Farmers. Paragraph 7 of the Divorce Decree specifically addresses this contingency. It states that if the Defendant's income does not terminate, that the child support will continue as set out in the Decree. The Divorce Decree at paragraph 7 states a parallel provision.

The use of the language "based upon historical earnings" is broader than merely stating a specific income from a specific employment or source. The plain use of the language, when interpreted in light of the applicable support statutes, is to include the event where Mr. Turley might actually terminate his employment, but his historical ability to earn will continue as the basis for his support obligations.

Appellant's argument under application of or reference to the Durfee and Dana cases, is misplaced. To quote the Appellant,

the "rule established by these cases is that where a trial court makes a support order which is intended to account for anticipated future changes, the actual occurrence of those changes will not constitute a "substantial change in circumstances".

The Decree in this appeal, more than contemplated the loss of income; it did not have to contemplate some possible future event -- it was told of, and considered the fact that the loss of income and employment had occurred, when making the original order in the Decree. Further, it accounts for the future income, by making clear reference to the historical income as a basis for continuing support obligations. Any other interpretation would open the flood gates for obligor parents to avoid high paying and historical income sources, to intentionally punish and deprive spouses and children.

POINT II

**THE DIVORCE DECREE AND SUPPORTING FINDINGS
PROVIDE THAT SUPPORT WAS TO CONTINUE
REGARDLESS OF JOB STATUS:
EITHER ON ACTUAL REPLACEMENT OR
HISTORICALLY IMPUTED INCOME.**

Tangential to the main or threshold issue in this Appeal, is the question as to whether the occurrence of the loss of job / reduction in income, while even if arguably sufficient to allow review of support, actually constitutes sufficient change of circumstances to modify the award set in contemplation of the event.

The Court in Durfee v. Durfee, 796 P. 2d 713, 716 (Utah App. 1990) (quoting Stettler v. Stettler, 713 P.2d 699, 701 (Utah 1985)) stated

On a petition for a modification of a Divorce Decree, the threshold requirement for relief is a showing of a substantial change of circumstances occurring since the entry of the decree and not contemplated in the decree itself.

Not only did the parties contemplate the discontinuation or reduction of Mr. Turley's income from his then-present employment, testimony at trial supported that fact and also informed the Court that Mr. Turley's job had actually been terminated months prior to the parties' divorce; at the time of the Decree of Divorce, Mr. Turley had already been unemployed for months. The fact of the loss of the Intermountain Farmer's income, was more than contemplated, it was known, at the time of the stipulated resolution. Therefore, as to a "change of circumstance" which was "not contemplated in the decree itself" there has been no claim made by the Defendant that he did not then know of, let alone specifically contemplate a change in his income or his job (pursuant to Defendant's testimony) because it was already terminated at the time the parties' placed the Stipulation into the record.

As stated earlier, the use of the language "based upon historical earnings" is broader than merely stating a specific income from a specific employment or source. The plain use of the language, when interpreted in light of the applicable support

statutes, is to include the event where Mr. Turley might actually terminate his employment, but his historical ability to earn will continue as the basis for his support obligations.

Appellant's reference to and reliance upon Bettinger and Park City is simply a ploy to avoid the otherwise well-settled laws of construction and interpretation of written agreements. It was the Defendant's counsel who drafted the Decree of Divorce, not Plaintiff's. In the event the Court finds there to be some ambiguity, it is black letter law that any ambiguities should be construed against the drafter, Mr. Turley.

CONCLUSION

The event of Mr. Turley's loss of income from Intermountain Farmers, actually occurred prior to the Decree. The parties and the Court were all aware of and contemplated these events when setting the amount of support.